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A. Purpose

PG 0560 and its enclosures describe regional responsibilities and procedures for
implementing the agency's enforcement program. The NRC's Enforcement Policy,
Enforcement Manual, and Enforcement Guidance Memoranda remain the primary
guidance documents, and should be consulted for more detailed guidance on
enforcement actions and related policy issues.

B. Action

All Region IV personnel who are involved in processing violations of NRC requirements
should read and be familiar with the procedures in this document and referenced
documents. Please direct questions regarding PG 0560 or referenced documents to the
enforcement specialists or the branch chief of the Allegation Coordination and
Enforcement Staff (ACES).
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Organizational responsibilities are discussed in Chapter 1 of the Enforcement Manual.

Or-ganizational Responsibilities

The Office of Enforcement (OE) in NRC headquarters has overall responsibility for the NRC's
Enforcement Policy and its implementation. The Regional Administrator is responsible for
implementation of the Enforcement Policy in Region IV. The Regional Administrator is assisted
by the Allegation Coordination and Enforcement Staff (ACES). ACES consists of a branch
chief, a senior enforcement specialist, an enforcement specialist, a senior allegation
coordinator, allegation coordinators, and an administrative assistant. Please contact the ACES
branch chief or an enforcement specialist for assistance on enforcement matters.

References

1. NRC's Enforcement Policy

2. NRC's Enforcement Manual

3. Enforcement Guidance Memoranda, Appendix A to the Enforcement Manual

4. NRC Inspection Manual Chapter 0305, "Operating Reactor Assessment Program"

5. NRC Inspection Manual Chapter 0609, "Significance Determination Process"

6. NRC Inspection Manual Chapter 0612, "Power Reactor Inspection Reports"

7. NRC Inspection Manual Chapter 0610, "Nuclear Material Safety & Safeguards
Inspection Reports"

B. NRC Inspection Manual Chapter 2800, "Materials Inspection Program"

Information is Available on the NRC's Internal and Public Websites

The Enforcement Policy, Enforcement Manual, and current Enforcement Guidance Memoranda
are available on OE's home page on the internal and external NRC websites. When you have a
need to consult the Enforcement Policy or Enforcement Manual, please access the most current
versions of these documents from either of OE's web pages. Please note that there are some
guidance documents, such as those that discuss how to process security-related findings at
power reactors, that are available only on OE's internal web page. Links to the Enforcement
Manual, several Enforcement Manual Appendices, and the Enforcement Policy have been
established on the Region IV, ACES homepage.

Appendices B and D of the Enforcement Manual provide standard document formats and forms
used in processing enforcement actions and documenting violations. These include standard
formats for inspection report cover letters, notices of violation (NOVs), and orders, as well as
worksheets used to support enforcement' panel discussions of potentially escalated enforcement
issues. Appendices B and D are accessible from OE's web page. ACES will maintain links to
the current versions of the most commonly used document formats and forms on the Region IV,
ACES homepage. Enforcement documents located in the ACES file on the R\: drive are not
updated automatically and must be verified before use.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Appendix C of the Enforcement Manual provides standard citations that should be used in
developing NOVs. The Office of the General Counsel has approved these standard citations for
use. Most of the standard citations apply to materials licensees, but there are standard citations
for 10 CFR Part 20, "Standards for Protection Against Radiation," and various transportation
requirements that may apply to other types of licensees. There are currently no standard
citations for Parts 50 and 55 requirements. Please access and download standard citations
from OE's web page to assure you are using the most current version.

OE's website also has links to significant enforcement actions involving reactor and materials
licensees and individuals. There are links to significant actions from 2007 to the present. This
information may be useful in determining how the NRC has characterized similar violations in
the past. Contact ACES if you need assistance in locating past significant enforcement actions.
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NON-ESCALATED ENFORCEMENT

Non-escalated enforcement actions are discussed in Chapter 3 of the Enforcement Manual.

Routine non-escalated actions

DNMS, DRP and DRS are responsible for evaluating and documenting routine non-escalated
enforcement matters. Routine non-escalated enforcement matters include Severity Level IV
(SL IV) violations, violations of very low safety significance (green) using the Significance
Determination Process (SDP), and minor violations, provided that the violations do not require
consultation with ACES or OE and do not require an Enforcement Action (EA) number (see
Non-routine actions below).

Prior consultation with ACES or OE is generally not required on routine non-escalated
enforcement matters. However, an ACES enforcement specialist will attend inspection
debriefings when possible and will offer enforcement guidance, as necessary. Regional
Counsel should be consulted on legal issues related to non-escalated enforcement actions.
Please consult with ACES and Regional Counsel if a licensee requests an official agency
interpretation of a requirement.

ACES is responsible for conducting training, providing policy guidance to the divisions upon
request, participating in inspection debriefings, coordinating with OE as required, and
conducting assessments as required. ACES will conduct an assessment of issued inspection
reports, with the goal of assessing one inspection report from each branch at least once each
fiscal year. ACES' assessments will examine only inspection reports that document violations,
and will focus on the information supporting the determination that violations occurred, the
manner in which violations are documented, and the use of the appropriate enforcement
formats and language. The results of ACES' assessments will be provided to the branch chief
and divisional management, and will be maintained by ACES.

Guidance on documenting routine cited and non-cited SL IV violations, violations of very low
safety significance (green), and minor violations is contained in Sections 3.1 and 3.2 of the
Enforcement Manual. Section 3.2 contains guidance for the preparation of inspection reports
and inspection report cover letters containing non-escalated enforcement actions. Appendix B
of the Enforcement Manual provides formats for cover letters and notices of violation for non-
escalated enforcement actions.

Non-routine actions

For certain types of non-escalated violations, you may be required to consult with ACES and
OE, obtain an EA number for tracking purposes, or obtain additional approvals or concurrences.
Chapter 2, Section 2.11, of the Enforcement Manual lists the types of violations and issues that
require an EA number and those issues that require consultation with OE. Special coordination
and concurrence requirements are explained in Chapter 3 of the Enforcement Manual,
specifically, Section 3.1.5 for non-cited violations (NCVs) and in Section 3.2.3 for NOVs.

Although it is difficult to generalize about the types of issues that invoke special coordination or
concurrence requirements, be sensitive to licensee disagreements about violations or their
significance, any departures from the criteria used to determine whether violations should be
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NON-ESCALATED ENFORCEMENT

NCVs or cited, any departures from the guidance in the Enforcement Policy and Enforcement
Manual in general, and any willful violations. Please consult ACES if you have any questions
about which types of violations require additional coordination and consultation.

Examples of non-escalated matters requirinq an EA number

Here are some of the more common examples of non-escalated enforcement actions requiring
EA numbers. Please consult Section 2.11.1 of the Enforcement Manual for a complete list.

* Violations disputed by the licensee after being documented in an inspection report,
including cases in which the licensee disputes the significance of the violation
(e.g., minor vs. SL IV). See Enclosure 3 to this policy guide for more information on
resolving disputed violations.

" Violations for which you are proposing to issue an NOV to a reactor licensee.

* All violations involving willfulness.

" Violations related to a reactor licensee's request for a Notice of Enforcement Discretion.

ACES Coordination

ACES will obtain an EA number and coordinate these issues with OE. In some cases, it may be
necessary to conduct an enforcement panel to resolve these non-escalated issues. In order to
assist you, please provide ACES with the following information:

• name of the licensee;

* location and type of license if not a power reactor;

• docket and license number;

* inspection dates and inspection exit date;

* a summary of the violation; and

• all background information necessary to support the resolution of the issue requiring
coordination with OE.

Information provided should show that the proposed resolution is supported by the Enforcement
Policy.

Examples of circumstances that invoke special coordination or concurrence requirements

Here are some of the more common situations or issues which invoke special coordination and
concurrence requirements, some of which will also result in an EA number being assigned and
may require an enforcement panel to resolve the issue. If you encounter these situations,
consult with your branch chief and ACES.
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NON-ESCALATED ENFORCEMENT

* Licensee disagreements about a violation before it is documented, including
disagreements about whether a violation exists, the significance of the violation, and
whether it will be cited or not. These require division director concurrence and should be
discussed with ACES.

" All deviations from the NOV or NCV criteria in the Enforcement Policy (see Chapter 3 of
the Enforcement Manual).

" All violations which, according to the examples in Section 6.0 of the Enforcement Policy,
"Violation Examples," could be classified at SL III or above and all violations associated
with greater-than-green SDP findings.

" Violations associated with an Augmented Inspection Team or Incident Investigation

Team inspection.

Additional guidance

* Obtain ACES concurrence on all correspondence containing an EA number unless
ACES has informed you that it is not necessary.

" Include ACES enforcement staff on distribution for all correspondence containing an EA
number.

" The proper format for EA numbers on NRC correspondence is EA-YY-###. For cover
letters, the EA number is to appear on the top left corner above the principal addressee's
name and, if applicable, on the NOV. If the EA number is assigned to an issue that is
described in a routine inspection report, the EA number should be noted in that section
of the report that describes the issue so that it is clear what issue in the report is
associated with the EA number.

" If you are struggling with determining whether a violation exists, a good exercise is to
write a draft NOV following the guidance in Section 4.4.1 of the Enforcement Manual.
Construct a clear statement of the legal requirements that were violated. Then, follow
that by a clear description of precisely how and when the legal requirements were not
met.
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DISPUTED VIOLATIONS

Disputed Non-escalated Enforcement Actions

This enclosure applies to violations that are disputed after being documented in a report.
Licensees may disagree with our determination that a violation occurred, or dispute the
significance that we have assigned to a violation. In either case, we will consider the
information the licensee provides, determine whether the licensee's arguments warrant
modification of the enforcement action, and respond to the licensee in writing. In accordance
with Sections 3.1.7 and 3.2.6 of the Enforcement Manual, the goal for issuing a written response
to the licensee is 90 days from the date we receive the licensee's denial. ACES will track the
region's success in meeting this goal, as well as the resolution of all disputed violations, and
maintain this information in the weekly status report, which is accessible on the RIV ACES
webpage. ACES is responsible for required consultation and coordination with OE. Here are
the steps in the process.

* The Region receives a reply from the licensee disputing a violation or significance of
violation.

" The Division provides ACES with a copy of the original inspection report and the
licensee's response.

" ACES will obtain an EA number and enter the issue in the disputed enforcement log in
the enforcement status report.

* If it appears that a response to the licensee will not be issued within 30 days, the
responsible division is to send an interim response to the licensee acknowledging receipt
of the licensee's letter. The responsible division will put ACES on distribution of any
such response to licensee.

* The responsible division will prepare a proposed response to the licensee and will brief
ACES. The division will provide an electronic copy of the proposed response to ACES.

" ACES will provide a copy of the proposed response to OE for their review.

" OE will provide comments to ACES; a panel may be scheduled to resolve any
differences regarding the proposed response to the licensee.

" The RA or DRA or both may be briefed on the NRC's proposed response prior to
issuance, if requested. However, a briefing is not required in accordance with the
Enforcement Policy.

• Within 90 days of receiving the licensee's letter, the Region will issue a response to the
licensee.

The written response to the licensee will contain the EA number assigned by ACES and will be
signed out by a regional manager one step above the manager who signed out the original
action. For example, if the branch chief signed out the original action, the division director
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DISPUTED VIOLATIONS

should sign out the response to the licensee. The responsible division will include the RA, DRA,
and ACES on the bcc distribution of the signed-out response.

Disputed Escalated Enforcement Actions

The same concepts described above apply to disputed escalated enforcement actions. The
main difference is that additional enforcement panels involving the same offices and individuals
involved in the initial enforcement decision may be held to reach an agency decision on the
disputed action. Also, if a civil penalty is disputed and a decision is made to issue an order
imposing the civil penalty, ACES is responsible for drafting the order. Branch chiefs who are in
receipt of letters from licensees disputing escalated enforcement actions should immediately
contact ACES for further guidance.
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WILLFUL VIOLATIONS

Willful violations are discussed in Section 6. 1 of the Enforcement Manual.

All willful violations must be discussed with OE, and be assigned an EA number by ACES.
There are also special documentation requirements for willful violations that are treated as
NCVs (see Section 2.3.2 of the Enforcement Manual).

A willful violation is a violation committed deliberately or one that demonstrated careless
disregard for a regulatory requirement (reckless disregard may be a better term because it helps
to distinguish between careless disregard and behavior that is merely careless).

An understanding of both subsets of willfulness - deliberateness and careless disregard -- is
necessary to ensure that we fulfill our obligation, as required by Management Directive 8.8, to
advise the Office of Investigations (01) when a reasonable basis exists to believe a willful
violation occurred. Willful noncompliance with NRC requirements is an important consideration
in determining enforcement sanctions against licensees and, in some cases, against non-
licensed individuals.

The basic elements of a deliberate violation are:

* A requirement exists (a regulation, license condition or technical specification, order or
statute);

• A violation of that requirement has occurred;

" The actions of the person committing the violation were voluntary, as opposed to
inadvertent;

* The person committing the violation knew the requirement existed, understood the

requirement, and knew the requirement was applicable at the time; and

* The person knew that his or her actions were contrary to the requirement.

The basic elements of a violation demonstrating careless disregard are:

" A requirement exists (a regulation, license condition or technical specification, order or
statute);

• A violation of that requirement has occurred;

* The actions of the person committing the violation were voluntary, as opposed to
inadvertent, constituting or resulting in the violation; and
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WILLFUL VIOLATIONS

* The person acted with careless disregard or indifference to:

a) The existence of the requirement; or
b) The meaning of the requirement; or
c) Whether the intended conduct conformed to the requirement.

The determination that a willful violation occurred is dependent on an evaluation of all of the
facts and circumstances, including (in most cases) the state of mind of the person involved.
Thus, the NRC ordinarily reserves judgement in such cases until an investigation has been
conducted by 01, the evidence developed by 01 is thoroughly reviewed, and the Office of
General Counsel (OGC) has had the opportunity to review and comment on the case. The
standard of evidence in determining willfulness in NRC civil enforcement proceedings is a
preponderance of the evidence.

If, during the course of an inspection, you believe a willful violation occurred, consult with your
supervisor or ACES to discuss appropriate follow-up action. Typical follow-up action consists of
completing an allegation receipt form, which will be presented at an Allegation Review Board
(ARB) meeting. All cases in which there is a reasonable basis to believe willfulness was
involved in the commission of a violation are discussed with 01 during the ARB meetings (see
MD 8.8 and PG 0858).

Note that any time the NRC considers escalated enforcement for a willful violation the NRC will
also consider offering the licensee or individual Alternative Dispute Resolution. For more
information on Alternative Dispute Resolution refer to Enclosure 8 of this policy guide.
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ESCALATED ENFORCEMENT - GENERAL

Escalated enforcement is discussed in Chapter 4 of the Enforcement Manual.

Escalated enforcement actions include:

" Severity Level 1, 11, and III NOVs;

" NOVs associated with an inspection finding that the SDP evaluates as having low to
moderate (white) or greater safety significance;

" Civil penalties;

* NOVs to individuals;

* Orders to modify, suspend, or revoke NRC licenses or the authority to engage in NRC-
licensed activities; and

" Orders issued to impose civil penalties.

Any violation, which may result in escalated enforcement action, requires consultation with NRC
headquarters to obtain agreement on the violation, the process to reach an enforcement
decision, and the final enforcement action. Consultation also is required for any potential white,
yellow, or red finding at a power reactor.

DNMS, DRP, or DRS normally have lead responsibility for managing escalated enforcement
cases. The primary exception to this is for cases involving discrimination, for which OE has lead
responsibility. The region's involvement in discrimination cases will be determined on a case-
by-case basis, but will generally involve providing support to OE, especially on helping OE
understand specific technical issues or requirements that may be involved in the case. Specific
responsibilities for completing actions associated with escalated enforcement and SDP issues
should be discussed and determined during the panels.

Following the identification of a violation that has the potential to be classified at SL I, SL II or
SL III, or a finding at a power reactor that has the potential, based on the SDP, to be
characterized as white, yellow or red, you should follow these steps:

Within 30 days of the completion of an inspection or investigation, the responsible
branch should schedule and conduct a regional enforcement panel or SERP.
Participants in a panel normally include the inspector(s), the branch chief, the division
director or deputy, a representative of ACES, and Regional Counsel. A senior reactor
analyst will attend all SERPs involving quantitative risk assessments. Regional Counsel
should be invited to attend all panels, but may choose not to attend SERP panels where
there are no legal issues.
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ESCALATED ENFORCEMENT - GENERAL

Complete a panel worksheet (see Appendix D of the Enforcement Manual) and provide it
and appropriate background information to panel members as far in advance of the
panel as possible. Background information includes, at a minimum, any licensee
documents and procedures referenced in the worksheet; and, for materials cases, the
NRC or Agreement State license of the licensee involved, if available. Please note that
the worksheets for enforcement panels and SERPs are different. Include all information
requested on the worksheet, and request ACES assistance if you are unsure what
information is required.

" Conduct the regional SERP or enforcement panel to develop a regional position on the
issue.

* Conduct a SERP or enforcement panel with appropriate attendance from the program
offices including OE, OGC, FSME, NRR and NSIR to develop an agency position on the
issue and the process to reach a final decision.

" Review OE's summary of the enforcement strategy agreed upon during the panel, which
the OE enforcement specialist documents on a Strategy Form. ACES provides this
strategy form to the responsible branch chief.

See Enclosure 5A and 5D for more information about conducting SERPs and enforcement
panels. The Region IV Enforcement Status and Metric Status Report will contain target dates
for such actions as issuance of reports, holding enforcement conferences, final actions, etc.
based on the applicable enforcement metrics.

" Within a week of the panel with the program offices, conduct a final exit interview with
the licensee; inform the licensee that we have identified an apparent escalated violation
or apparent white, yellow or red finding, and discuss the options that are available to the
licensee with regard to submitting a written response or requesting an enforcement or
regulatory conference.

* Issue an inspection report or letter describing the apparent violation or apparent white,
yellow or red finding, and describing the options available to the licensee.

" Issue a notice for any meetings with the licensee associated with the issue. OE and the
appropriate program office shall be on distribution for the notice (OE will post all
conferences on its web page). Enforcement conference meeting notices must be
specific in describing the apparent violations being considered for escalated
enforcement, and, if closed, must state the basis for closing the meeting to the public.
Please ensure that ACES is given the opportunity to concur on all conference meeting
notices and that ACES is on distribution for the notice as well.

* Unless the licensee has opted to provide its position in writing, conduct either a
predecisional enforcement conference (PEC) or, for SDP issues, a regulatory
conference with the licensee.
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ESCALATED ENFORCEMENT - GENERAL

" Following a PEC or regulatory conference, issue a meeting summary to document the
fact the meeting occurred and to make public any information provided by the licensee
or the NRC during the conference.

" Conduct a post-PEC caucus or post-SERP caucus to determine if sufficient information
was obtained during the meeting and to determine the final agency position.

" Where necessary, conduct a final SERP or enforcement panel to reach a final
enforcement decision after a conference or after receipt of a licensee's position in
writing. A final SERP is always required if the color of the final enforcement decision has
changed.

" Issue a final enforcement action or SDP determination and notify the licensee.

" Review the licensee's response to determine whether any further action is necessary.

Development of Escalated Enforcement and SDP Actions

The responsible technical division normally has lead responsibility for drafting escalated
enforcement and final SDP correspondence once an enforcement decision has been made, and
for processing the correspondence through concurrence. ACES will provide a review of the
violation(s) and will ensure that concurrence is coordinated with OE and the program offices,
when required. For final significance determination letters, the sponsoring division or Senior
Reactor Analyst (SRA) has the responsibility to provide ACES the technical bases to support
the final significance determination.

The sponsoring technical division will also normally assume responsibility for drafting the final
enforcement action in those cases where the enforcement action is documented in the same
inspection report in which the violation is described. For example, in cases where a SL III
violation without a civil penalty is issued with the inspection report, the division will retain its
normal responsibility for developing the inspection report and associated NOV.

Timeliness of Escalated Enforcement Actions

The agency goals for issuing final escalated enforcement actions vary depending on the type of
case. The following table provides goals for cases involving 01 reports (or discrimination cases
based on Department of Labor findings), for enforcement cases not involving 01, and for SDP
cases. Each of these goals are reflected in the regional operating plan and are tracked by
ACES on a quarterly and fiscal year basis.
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ESCALATED ENFORCEMENT - GENERAL

Type of case Timeliness goal Clock starts

Based on 01 or DOL Average processing time is _<180 days. Date of 01 report
No case shall exceed 330 days.

Technical, Non-SDP Average processing time is <120 days. Final exit date
No case shall exceed 160 days.

SDP 90% of cases shall be completed <90 Inspection report date
days. I

ACES will issue a status report containing information on all open escalated enforcement cases
and SDP cases. The report will note actions pending and responsibility for completing those
actions. The report also will flag cases that have the potential to exceed, or have already
exceeded, the relevant timeliness goal. The DRA will review this information and will conduct
meetings, as necessary, to discuss actions to expedite such cases.

Exit Meetings for Violations That May be Considered for Escalated Enforcement

Violations that are discussed at inspection exit meetings, which may be escalated, should be
described as apparent violations, regardless of their significance level. Licensees should be
informed that final decisions regarding violations, severity levels and their final disposition will be
made after regional management review. After an enforcement panel has been held with HQ
involvement, a licensee may be told that the NRC is considering escalated enforcement action
for an apparent violation, and that a final determination as to whether a violation occurred or
whether an enforcement action will be taken will be made after a conference or receipt of the
licensee's written response.

NOTE: The Enforcement Policy revision dated September 30, 2010, defined an apparent
violation as a violation of regulatory requirements that is being considered for escalated
enforcement action.
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ENFORCEMENT PANELS & SERPs

Enforcement panels are discussed in Chapter 4 of the Enforcement Manual. SERPs are
described in Inspection Manual Chapter 0609, Attachment 1; and Chapter 2 of the Enforcement
Manual.

Enforcement panels are held for all cases where there is a potential for escalated enforcement
action to be taken, and for some non-escalated enforcement matters where consultation with
OE or other headquarters offices is required. The Significance Determination
Process/Enforcement Review Panels are held for all cases where there is a potential white,
yellow or red finding at a power reactor, whether or not a violation was involved. Please consult
ACES and Chapter 4 of the Enforcement Manual for a complete list of issues that may require a
panel.

The responsible branch should schedule and conduct a regional panel within 30 days of the end
of the inspection or receipt of an 01 investigation report, and at least 2 weeks prior to the week
you plan to panel an issue with HQ personnel. The main purposes of the regional panel are to
assure that adequate information is available to support a HQ panel, and to develop a regional
recommendation on the issue. A panel worksheet (see discussion in the next paragraph) must
be completed and provided to panel members as far in advance of a panel as possible to allow
panel members adequate preparation time.

A panel with program office personnel from HQ is conducted after a regional panel is held. The
purposes of the HQ panel are to determine whether there is a basis to consider escalated
enforcement action and to discuss a strategy for reaching a final decision. The success of the
panel depends on the information that is available and the manner in which it is presented. The
enforcement panel and SERP worksheets (see Appendix D, Enforcement Manual) serve as a
guide to the information that is required and must be completed before an initial panel is
conducted. For complex SDP cases and other complex cases, it is best to provide the HQ
panel members with all necessary background information as far in advance of the panel as
possible.

For cases associated with wrongdoing, the inspection related findings should be discussed with
OGC early in the process (prior to the regional panel) to assist in the legal review of case
related information. When possible, the responsible regional division should have a DRAFT of
the choice letter(s) prepared for the licensee and the individuals suspected of wrongdoing, to be
distributed to the HQ panel participants in advance of the scheduled panel date.

Additional panels may be held following a conference with a licensee or receipt of a licensee's
written response. The purpose of these panels is to reach a final enforcement or SDP decision.
It is not normally necessary to complete additional worksheets to support these panels. It is,
however, important that the decisions reached at the initial panel, which are documented on a
strategy form issued by OE, are used as the starting point for discussions about revising such
decisions based on new information or new perspectives. The region's position on the
information provided by the licensee should be provided to headquarters prior to any additional
panels.

Region IV's enforcement panels with OE and other headquarters offices are scheduled on
Thursdays at 12:30 p.m. Central time. ACES is responsible for scheduling cases for panels
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ENFORCEMENT PANELS & SERPs

and issuing an agenda for each week's panel with all of the necessary background information
to support the panel. For escalated enforcement, ACES must send background information
and panel worksheets to panel participants no later than 1 p.m. on the Thursday before the
headquarters panel date. NRR has requested that an advance notice of the intent to conduct
an SDP panel along with the SERP package be provided to the panel participants at least
10-working days in advance of the SDP panel (i.e. two Thursdays prior to the HO panel).

For escalated enforcement issues discussed with HQ, the ACES representative should
introduce the panel members, introduce the topic and purpose of the panel, and provide a
general description of the apparent violations, the proposed severity level, initial assessment of
the civil penalty factors, and the region's proposed course of action. Typically, the sponsoring
division will have a division or branch representative present to provide the general description
of the apparent violations.

For SDP issues discussed with HQ, following the introduction of the panel members, the
sponsoring division should introduce the topic and provide a summary of the key information in
the SERP worksheet, including a summary of the performance deficiency, the results of the
SDP, the licensee's position on the issue and, lastly, any violations associated with the finding.

ACES will provide the responsible regional division with an EA number for each case discussed.
OE will send out a strategy form following the panel documenting the panel determinations and
specific approvals for the final actions. For each case discussed at the weekly panel, ACES will
maintain a case file, which will contain key documents, including all strategy forms associated
with the case, unless such documents are electronically available in ADAMS. ACES also will
assure, through periodic status briefings and issuance of a status report, that the RA and DRA
are briefed on the results of panels in which they are not in attendance.

For escalated enforcement cases, which are associated with substantiated 01 reports, there will
be a "kick-off" teleconference held with OE, OGC, the respective program offices and regional
representatives. ACES will be responsible for notifying the responsible division and the OE
specialist that the substantiated 01 report has been issued. The HQ OE specialist will arrange
for the "kick-off" meeting within 2-3 weeks of the receipt of the 01 report. The regional
participants will typically include the ACES enforcement specialist, along with the divisional
inspector and branch chief. The purpose of the "kick-off" meeting will be to discuss the specifics
of the case including: (1) additional information that is not included in the Ol report, (2) the
overall schedule for paneling the case, and (3) any other pertinent information that the other
program offices need to complete their review of the case.
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ENFORCEMENT & REGULATORY CONFERENCES

Predecisional Enforcement Conferences (PECs) are discussed in Section 4.1 of the
Enforcement Manual and in Section 2.4.1 of the Enforcement Policy. Regulatory conferences
are discussed in Section 4.1 of the Enforcement Manual, Section 2.4.2 of the Enforcement
Policy, and in Inspection Manual Chapter 0609, Enclosure 1.

This enclosure pertains to conducting PECs and regulatory conferences. PECs and regulatory
conferences normally will be conducted in the Region IV office. The decision of which room to
use for the meeting will consider whether the meeting will be closed to the public and the
expected number of people that will attend that can be comfortably accommodated.

The lead division should schedule a conference preparation meeting about a week prior to a
PEC or regulatory conference to:

* Finalize an agenda;

* Finalize prepared remarks;

* Finalize the apparent violation handout and other materials expected to be used at the
PEC by the NRC;

" Discuss any new information provided by the licensee and the licensee's position on the
issue, if known;

• Discuss plans for conducting the conference; and

* Assure all equipment will be available, including telephone and video-conferencing
equipment.

Sample remarks, attendance forms, and related conference forms are maintained in the
R:\# ACES subdirectory.

The RA, DRA or division director will preside over PECs and regulatory conferences.
Attendance at PECs and regulatory conferences should be limited to essential personnel,
although exceptions may be made for training purposes. HQ may participate by telephone or
videoconference provided no information security requirements would be violated. Secure
videoconferences may be utilized in specifically equipped conference rooms. ACES is
responsible for informing the lead division if OE and OGC plan to participate; the lead division is
responsible for coordinating participation by headquarters program office personnel.

PECs normally will be transcribed if the PEC is the result of an 01 investigation or if there is a
potential for the PEC itself to result in a wrongdoing conclusion, and in cases where an action
may be based on a DOL finding of discrimination. The Enforcement Manual, Section 4.1.5,
provides additional guidance for when to transcribe a PEC or regulatory conference. ACES will
make arrangements for transcription services if the conference is taking place in the regional
office. If the conference is taking place at a remote location, the divisional representative
making the conference room arrangements also is responsible for requesting and arranging
transcription services.
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The lead division will prepare a conference attendance form. Following the conference, the lead
division will issue a conference summary to document the occurrence of the conference and
assure that written materials used during the conference and the list of conference attendees
are made publicly available. The Enforcement Manual, Section 4.1.5, provides additional
guidance on PEC and regulatory conference summaries. The conference summary should not
include any predecisional, safeguards, safeguards-modified handling, privacy act information, or
information that could be considered sensitive or proprietary.

For public conferences, the sponsoring division should assure that the meeting is announced in
advance and conducted in accordance with the NRC and regional public meeting policies. In
addition, the sponsoring division should tell the licensee that the conference is open and that
information provided to the NRC at the meeting will be made public unless the licensee provides
a basis for protecting the information under 10 CFR 2.390 or other requirement. The
sponsoring division should also inform the licensee about NRC participation in the meeting,
including plans for participation by telephone or videoconference.

Closed conferences consist of enforcement actions being contemplated: (1) against an
individual, (2) significant personnel failures where the NRC has requested that individual(s)
involved be present at the conference, (3) based on findings of an NRC Office of Investigations
(01) report that has not been publicly disclosed; or (4) that involves Safeguards, Privacy Act
information, or information that could be considered sensitive or propriety. Enforcement Manual
Section 4.1.2.3 provides additional information.
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ISSUANCE OF ESCALATED ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS

Issuing escalated enforcement actions is discussed in Chapter 4 of the Enforcement Manual.

The region is responsible for issuing most escalated enforcement actions and final significance
determination letters. Orders, which are issued by OE, are the most notable exception.
Regardless of who issues the action, the region normally is responsible for notifying licensees
and individuals when escalated enforcement actions are issued. The region is also normally
responsible for informing state officials and issuing news announcements.

The basic steps in this process are:

" For those cases requiring advance notification of the Commission, an Enforcement
Notification (EN) will be issued and the action will be scheduled for issuance. OE is
generally responsible for writing and issuing the EN. An EN normally is issued
3 business days in advance of the action being issued.

* Inform the Regional Public Affairs Officer (PAO) at least 72 hours in advance of the
issuance of an enforcement action involving a proposed civil penalty, Order, or an
escalated NOV associated with a red, yellow, or white SDP finding.

" At the time the EN is issued, ACES is responsible for providing advance notification of
the enforcement action to key regional personnel, including the RA, DRA, divisional
personnel, the Regional State Liaison Officer (RSLO), and the PAO.

* On the date an enforcement action is scheduled to be issued, ACES will check with OE
to assure there are no holds on issuance, then will provide the RA the final enforcement
action for signature.

" The RA or designee will telephone the affected licensee or individual and provide a brief
summary of the action, discuss the timing of any news announcements, and offer to
provide a copy of the action by facsimile following the call.

* The action will be faxed, if possible, and mailed by whatever method is most appropriate
if not otherwise specified. Individual actions should be sent by certified mail. All routine
distribution, internal and external, will be made by regular mail or e-mail.

* For a significant action requiring notification of state officials or other governmental
agencies, the RSLO will make the required notifications and may fax a copy of the
enforcement action following notification of the affected licensee or individual.

* For significant actions requiring notification of the press, the PAO will issue a press
release approximately 24 hours after the affected licensee or individual has been notified
and has received a copy of the enforcement action, and will provide a copy of the press
release to the affected licensee or individual just prior to its public release.
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When a press release is being issued, ACES will assure that the enforcement action is
entered into ADAMS as a public document, and will coordinate with OE the posting of
the action on OE's public web page.
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MODIFIED ENFORCEMENT PANEL

On August 31, 2011, the Office of Enforcement issued EGM 11-001, "ENFORCEMENT
GUIDANCE MEMORANDUM - PILOT PROGRAM FOR MODIFIED ENFORCEMENT
PROCESS."

This EGM provided guidance for implementation of a modified enforcement panel pilot program
for enforcement cases that met two specific criteria to improve efficiency, timeliness, and
effectiveness. The pilot program has an expected duration of 18 months. The two types of
enforcement cases that are affected by this EGM are:

TYPE 1 - Non-Escalated Office of Investigations-Based Cases

Type 1 cases are non-escalated, factually simple, 01-based cases that involve routine
enforcement issues dealing with willful or deliberate actions on the part of an individual (e.g.,
providing inaccurate or incomplete information) for which the expected enforcement action is no
greater than a Severity Level (SL) IV notice of violation (NOV) or non-cited violation (NCV) for
the licensee and no greater than a deliberate close out letter to an individual.

Typical cases considered for use of this type of panel are associated with a low-level individual
that willfully disregards a regulatory or procedural requirement. In most cases, the licensee
identified the violation and has already taken appropriate action against the individual before 01
started the investigation.

For Type 1 cases, a modified enforcement panel is assembled consisting of a representative
from the Office of General Council (OGC), the Office of Enforcement (OE), the responsible
ACES specialist, and the associated program office. Technical staff may contribute, as
necessary, to help the modified panel members fully understand the technical matters of the
case. These cases do not require that an Enforcement Action Worksheet (EAW) be prepared.
The inspector and the enforcement specialist prepare a summary of the case facts along with
the proposed licensee and individual violations. If all the modified panel members agree on the
proposed course of action, if OGC supports the violation and 01's willfulness conclusion, and if
the outcome meets agency-wide consistency and policy standards, then the region or
responsible program office can issue the non-escalated action without further headquarters
involvement.

TYPE 2 - Severity Level III, Non-Investigation-Based Cases with No Civil Penalty or Use of
Discretion

Type 2 cases are escalated, factually simple, non-investigative cases that are expected to result
in no greater than an SL III NOV with no civil penalty (CP) and no exercise of enforcement
discretion. Typical cases considered for this type of panel are straightforward and factually
simple through application of the Enforcement Policy.

For Type 2 cases, a modified panel would be conducted with a staff member from OE, the
responsible program office, and the involved region. Additional technical staff members may
contribute, as necessary, to help panel members fully understand the technical matters of the
case. If the three modified panel members agree that the issuance of an SL III violation with no
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CP and no use of enforcement discretion is warranted, the normal escalated process would
continue (e.g., a choice letter or choice call).

Before use of the modified enforcement process on a given case, ACES and the responsible
division must concur that the facts of the case support the use of the process as outlined above
and in EGM-1 1-001. ACES will schedule the meeting with the appropriate modified panel
members and notify the division so that technical support can be provided.

Generic Rules for use of the Pilot Program:

" All members of the modified enforcement process panel must agree that the case meets
the criteria in the EGM. If any panel member disagrees with the use of the EGM, then
the case is dispositioned using the normal enforcement process.

" If any modified panel member disagrees with the recommended enforcement action,
then a normal enforcement panel shall be used to disposition the case.
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NOTICES OF ENFORCEMENT DISCRETION (NOED)

NOEDs are discussed in Section 3.8 of the Enforcement Policy, Section 5.3 of the Enforcement
Manual, and Inspection Procedure 71153 of the NRC Inspection Manual. Regional procedures
relative to NOEDs are described in PG 0810.

ACES is responsible for assigning regional NOED numbers and for logging, tracking and
maintaining files of all NOED-related correspondence, whether issued by the region or NRR.
ACES is not involved in the process of considering and granting requests for NOEDs and you
need not obtain ACES concurrence on NOED correspondence.

DRP branch chiefs are responsible for:

" Making ACES aware of all NOEDs, including those issued by NRR, so that ACES can
add them to the NOED log.

" Providing ACES hard and electronic copies of all NOEDs and follow-up correspondence.

* Providing background information to ACES on all violations associated with NOEDs, so
that ACES can obtain an EA number. While an EA number must be assigned to any
violation that resulted in a licensee requesting an NOED, an EA number is not assigned
to the NOED itself.

* Providing ACES with closure information on all NOEDs.

The NOED logs and related NOED correspondence are available for viewing in the R:\# ACES
subdirectory.
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CONFIRMATORY ACTION LETTERS

Confirmatory Action Letters (CALs) are discussed in Section 3.5 of the Enforcement Manual.
C-

CALs are discussed in Section 2.3,7 of the Enforcement Policy. A CAL is a letter confirming a
licensee's or contractor's agreement to take certain actions to remove significant concerns
regarding health and safety, safeguards, or the environment. Agency policy establishes a
relatively high threshold for the use of CALs. The Enforcement Manual states, for example, that
the issues addressed in CALs should be of a level of significance such that the NRC would
likely issue an order if a licensee did not agree to meet the commitments. Please review CAL
guidance in the Enforcement Manual for more information on their use and limitations.

Please note that CALs involving power reactors require the concurrence of the Director, Office
of Nuclear Reactor Regulation; CALs involving materials licensees may require the concurrence
of the Office of Federal and State Materials and Environmental Management Programs; and
some CALs may require coordination with OE, NSIR, and OGC. Consult with ACES if you have
any questions about the coordination required for a specific CAL.

CALs issued by Region IV normally include the concurrence of the Division Director or Deputy
Director, ACES, and Regional Counsel. DRS and DRP director concurrence is required for a
CAL involving power reactors. The RA should sign all CALs issued by the region. Delegation of
signature authority should not be below the Division Director or acting Division Director level.
The standard CAL format is contained in the R:\# ACES subdirectory and in Appendix B to the
Manual. The Enforcement Manual, Section 3.5.2, provides a listing of elements that should be
included in the CAL. Contact ACES (Ext. 1121 or 1217) for a CAL number. In addition to
assigning a CAL number, the RA's office will set up a regional action item to track the closure of
the CAL. CALs are to be closed in writing when the licensee has completed all of the actions.
All CALs should be profiled as CALs when entered into ADAMS, in accordance with document
profiles established by OE. All CALs should be sent by certified mail or by a mechanism that
assures a record of their having been received.

Correspondence regarding changes in commitments described in a CAL and the closure of
CALs may be signed by the responsible division director, When a licensee completes the
actions it has agreed to take, or when a CAL is replaced by an order, the responsible division
will close the CAL in a letter to the licensee, using the same distribution list used for the original
CAL. The RA, DRA, and ACES must be on the distribution for all correspondence related to
CALs issued by the region.

ACES is responsible for logging and tracking CALs, and maintaining files of CAL-related
correspondence, including closure information, so copies of all CALs and follow-up
correspondence must be provided to ACES via email for inclusion in ACES' electronic files.
The CAL logs and related CAL correspondence are available for viewing in the R;\# ACES
subdirectory.
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ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR)

Alternate Dispute Resolution (ADR) is discussed in Section 2.4.3 of the Enforcement Policy and
Section 6.4.6 of the Enforcement Manual.

Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) refers to a variety of processes that emphasize creative,
cooperative approaches to handling conflicts in lieu of adversarial procedures. Mediation and
arbitration are the most widely recognized processes. The NRC's ADR program uses mediation
rather than arbitration (i.e., the parties develop mutually agreeable corrective actions rather than
being obligated by an arbitrator's decision). The Administrative Dispute Resolution Act of 1996
(ADRA) encourages the use of ADR by Federal agencies. Mediation involves the use of a
skilled third party neutral, and is a voluntary process in terms of the decision to participate, and
the content of the final agreement. The ADRA requires that certain verbal and written
information related to mediation be confidential (discussed more below). Federal agency
experience with ADR has demonstrated that the use of these techniques can result in more
timely and more economical resolution of issues, more effective outcomes, and improved
relationships.

The Nuclear Regulatory Commission revised its Enforcement Policy, on September 30, 2010, to
include the voluntary use of ADR in addressing discrimination complaints and other allegations
of wrongdoing. ADR is purely voluntary and either party may withdraw from mediation at any
time for any reason. If that happens, the NRC will follow its normal process to resolve the
issues. Enforcement guidance regarding the use of ADR, including forms, can be found through
OE's website at http://www.internal.nrc.qov/OE/alternative-dispute-resolution.html.

Cornell University's Scheinman Institute on Conflict Resolution ("Cornell") has been contracted
to administer the NRC's ADR program. Cornell uses a network of independent mediators who
help the parties find ways to reach a common understanding and settle their disputes.

There are two types of ADR that the NRC offers, "Pre-investigation ADR," and "Post-
Investigation ADR." Early ADR is offered after the NRC receives an allegation of discrimination.
The Allegation Review Board (ARB) will determine whether to offer the individual Pre-
Investigation ADR. The parties to Pre-Investigation ADR are the alleger and the licensee. The
NRC is not a participant because the NRC has not investigated the issue. If the alleger and
licensee fail to reach an agreement in Pre-investigation ADR, the allegation is referred to the
Office of Investigations (01) and the NRC follows its normal process.

From an enforcement standpoint, the enforcement staff will deal with the second type of ADR,
"Post-Investigation ADR." First, it is important to note that the NRC does not offer ADR in all
enforcement cases, only those cases involving willfulness. The NRC will offer Post-
Investigation ADR to both licensees and individuals in cases after 01 has completed its
investigation and substantiated association of willfulness with an apparent violation, and an
enforcement panel concludes that pursuit of an enforcement action is warranted. The NRC will
offer Post-Investigation ADR at three different points in our process:

(1) Prior to a predecisional enforcement conference (i.e., we will offer it in the cover
letter identifying an apparent willful violation to a licensee and in the cover letter
identifying an apparent violation of the deliberate misconduct rule to an
individual);
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ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR)

(2) After the initial enforcement action has been issued (i.e., we will offer it in the
cover letter transmitting an enforcement action involving willfulness to a licensee
and in the cover letter transmitting an enforcement action to an individual
involving deliberate misconduct); and

(3) After imposition of a civil penalty and prior to a hearing request.

Note that we do not offer ADR in non-escalated cases involving willfulness. However, if a
licensee requested ADR in a non-escalated willful violation, ACES would consult with OE on the
request. ACES has the overall responsibility to ensure the region follows ADR guidance and to
coordinate with OE regarding the ADR program.

It is important to note that discussions related to ADR will be considered confidential, as
required by the ADRA. Documents generated in support of ADR, with the exception of the
agreement to mediate, signed hearing waiver and consent form, any notice of violation, and the
final confirmatory order will be treated as confidential. Documents may be distributed amongst
the NRC staff that are "interested NRC parties" (e.g., regional technical personnel associated
with the case, other enforcement specialists, and any management associated with the action)
and, therefore, do not need to be limited to only those attending the mediation.

The participants in the mediation will not discuss the substance of the mediation with anyone
who was not present, and will not share such information voluntarily with non-participants,
except those who may need certain information to aid us in implementing a settlement.
Confidentiality will not extend to information indicating a potential or existing safety or security
issue at any facility requiring action by the NRC. Note that if mediation fails, the NRC staff
members present during the mediation may not divulge information discussed by the licensee
(or individual) during the mediation at a subsequent predecisional enforcement conference
unless there's a potential or existing safety or security issue requiring NRC action.

Cornell will notify the region once a licensee or an individual requests ADR. The following are
the major activities that will occur during ADR. This is not meant to be a detailed listing of every
activity, but an overview of the major ADR activities.

* The Regional Administrator (RA) or Deputy Administrator (DRA) will sign the Agreement
to Mediate.

* The RA will decide who will represent the NRC in the ADR. Normally, the NRC will send
a team of 3-4 individuals. The team will be composed of: (1) an SES team leader,
normally the RA, DRA, or, with the concurrence of the Director, Office of Enforcement,
a Division Director; (2) Regional Counsel; and (3) the ACES Branch Chief or an
enforcement specialist. A technical specialist may also be a member of the team or may
be available for consultation by telephone, as needed.

* Cornell will provide both the NRC and the other party (the licensee or individual) with
choices of mediators in the local area, or if necessary, another mutually agreeable
location. At the very least, the NRC and the other party must agree on a mediator. If
possible, the NRC and the other party should also agree on a location for mediation.
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* According to the Enforcement Policy, the mediation is expected to be completed and
signed within 90 days. Notwithstanding this timeframe, there is no reason to wait the
entire time. The two parties to the mediation and the mediator should expeditiously
schedule the mediation. The actual mediation is expected to take 1 day.

" A strategy session with the Director, OE and the Program Office must occur. In
preparation for the strategy session, the region should provide HQ a draft position on
NRC's interests and general considerations for reaching an agreement. OE maintains a
strategy session worksheet and other ADR document formats at
http://www.internal. nrc.,ov/OE/atternative-dispute-resolution.html.

" Using the results of the strategy session, provide the mediator with background
information and the NRC's interests and general considerations for reaching an
agreement. The document should specify that the mediator is not to share this with the
other party.

" A pre-mediation conference call should occur between the NRC's ADR participants, the
mediator, and the other party. The NRC should request such a call if the mediator does
not request it. During the call, the NRC should discuss its interests (if appropriate);
confirm that the other party understands any agreement will be confirmed by Order and
that it will be made publically available; that a press release might be issued; and
confirm the logistics for the mediation. Normally, mediation will occur near the regional
office, but not in the NRC's offices. However, in the spirit of mediating in good faith, the
location is a matter for negotiation.

" During the mediation, an agreement will normally be reached. The enforcement
specialist should take a notebook computer with a projector and printer to the mediation
for drafting an agreement in principle.

* After the mediation, the region must forward a copy of the agreement in principle to
appropriate HQ staff, as soon as possible. OE will coordinate the HQ stakeholder
reviews. Document distribution must be limited to those with a need-to-know.

" Drafting the confirmatory order from an ADR agreement is different, in that, it is
encouraged that we share early drafts with the other party and seek their comments.
This is because the draft confirmatory orders are considered part of the ADR process
and are confidential. If substantive changes are made to the draft confirmatory order
during the NRC's concurrence process, these should be shared with the other party to
the mediation as soon as possible.

Other than the unusual step of sharing with the other party early drafts of the
Confirmatory Order, the normal process for issuing a confirmatory order should be
followed. ACES is responsible for ensuring the process is followed in accordance with
the Manual and applicable ADR guidance. The draft confirmatory order along with the
Consent and Hearing Waiver form (waiving their right to a hearing) is transmitted to the
other party. An appropriate representative for the other party is requested to sign and
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return the executed Consent and Hearing Waiver form to the region for inclusion with the
confirmatory order.

Once the signed waiver has been received by the region, ACES is responsible for
finalizing the confirmatory order and cover letter; obtaining the appropriate signatures;
issuing the Order; providing a copy to the licensee or individual; and providing a copy to
the Public Affairs Officer and State Liaison Officer. OE is responsible for ensuring an EN
is issued.

Regional Administrators or Deputy Regional Administrators have the authority to sign
and issue ADR confirmatory orders involving wrongdoing cases (other than
discrimination) for their region after obtaining concurrence from the Director, OE. ACES
will be responsible for coordinating with OE to ensure the process for issuing the final
confirmatory order (e.g., sending it to the Federal Register for publication) is followed.
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ENFORCEMENT ASSESSMENT

Non-escalated enforcement actions are discussed in Chapter 3 of the Enforcement Manual.

Enforcement Assessment Responsibilities

ACES is responsible for conducting regional assessments of the non-escalated enforcement
process on a quarterly basis. ACES will conduct an assessment of issued inspection reports,
with the goal of auditing at least one inspection report (IR) generated by each branch per fiscal
year. ACES audits will examine only inspection reports that document violations, and will focus
on the information supporting the determination that violations occurred, the manner in which
violations are documented, and the use of the appropriate enforcement formats and language.
ACES will also review the proper use and approval of NRC 591 forms during these
assessments. The results of ACES assessments will be provided to the branch chief and
division management through memorandum.

References

1. NRC Enforcement Policy
2. NRC Enforcement Manual
3. Enforcement Guidance Memoranda, Appendix A to Enforcement Manual
4. NRC Inspection Manual Chapter 0305, "Operating Reactor Assessment Program"
9. NRC Inspection Manual Chapter 0609, "Significance Determination Process"
10. NRC Inspection Manual Chapter 0612, "Power Reactor Inspection Reports"
11. NRC Inspection Manual Chapter 0610, "Nuclear Material Safety & Safeguards

Inspection Reports"
12. NRC Inspection Manual Chapter 2800, "Materials Inspection Program"

Enforcement Assessment Process

ACES will conduct the quarterly enforcement assessments using guidance in the references
listed above and other applicable, current enforcement documents. The inspection reports
selected for review will include at least one non-escalated enforcement action, such as a
Severity Level (SL) IV Notice of Violation (NOV) or a Non-Cited Violation (NCV). Inspection
reports will be selected for review over the course of the fiscal year such that at least one report
generated by each branch containing non-escalated violations will be reviewed. Additionally, a
minimum of one NRC 591 form containing a violation will be selected each quarter for review.
ACES may request assistance from the divisions to perform the reviews. Divisional staff
conducting reviews for ACEs must be assigned to a branch not directly responsible for the
enforcement issues being reviewed. The most current reference shall be used when performing
the assessment.

Guidance for Assessment

The amount of information necessary to assess the non-escalated enforcement process
effectively would be too comprehensive to list separately. However, the following checklist is
provided to aid in determining which components of the process should be considered for each
assessment.
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ENFORCEMENT ASSESSMENT

General:

* Correct Cover Letter template used from Enforcement Manual, Appendix B

* Correct template used for NOV

* The violation requirements were correctly quoted from the regulation, technical specification,
or license condition

" The "contrary to statement" correctly parallels the violation requirement

" The information in the IR supports the violation

* Date of violation was clearly identified

" There were no violations that should have been escalated

" Minor violations are either not included in the IR or have appropriate language

Reactor Related:

" Reactor related NOV's

o Enforcement Action number on the IR
o ACES concurrence obtained for the IR

• Cross-cutting aspects correctly identified

Material Related:

* 591 Forms

o Violation is well documented
o Violation was correctly quoted and correct parallelism was used
o Branch Chief signature block provided on the form
o Branch Chief review and signature documented
o Current version of 591 M form used
o Licensee corrective actions included, when known
o Enforcement Policy referenced as to how the violation significance was determined
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